

1. *Recalling* its previous resolutions on the situation in Somalia, in particular resolution 1772 (2007), as well as other relevant Presidential Statements on the situation in Somalia, *reiterating* its full support to the Secretary-General and his Special Representative, Augustine P. Mahiga in this regard, and for their work with the African Union (AU) and international and regional partners,
2. *Reaffirming* its respect for the sovereignty, territorial integrity, political independence and unity of Somalia and *reiterating* its commitment to a comprehensive and lasting settlement of the situation in Somalia,
3. *Recognising* that peace and stability in Somalia depend on reconciliation and effective governance across the whole of Somalia and *urging* all Somali parties to renounce violence and to work together to build peace and stability,
4. *Welcoming* the end of the Transition in Somalia, the selection by Parliament of a President, and the recent appointment of a Prime Minister, and *encouraging* the Prime Minister to appoint a Cabinet as soon as possible,
5. *Commending* the contribution of the African Union Mission to Somalia (AMISOM) to lasting peace and stability in Somalia, and *noting* its critical role in improving the security situation in Mogadishu and other areas of south-central Somalia, including Kismayo, *expressing* its appreciation for the continued commitment of troops, police and equipment to AMISOM by the Governments of Burundi, Uganda, Djibouti, Kenya and Sierra Leone, and *recognizing* the significant sacrifices made by AMISOM forces,
6. *Calling on* the Somali authorities, with the support of AMISOM and international partners, to build an enhanced level of security in areas secured by AMISOM and the Somali National Security Forces (SNSF), *underlining* the importance of building sustainable, legitimate and representative local governance and security structures in areas recovered from Al-Shabaab control, and *reiterating* the need for rapid and increased United Nations presence and support to the Somali authorities in these areas,
7. *Underlining* the importance of capacity building of the SNSF, and in this regard *reaffirming* the importance of the re-establishment, training, equipping and retention of Somali security forces, which is vital for the long-term stability and security of Somalia, *expressing* support for the on-going European Union Training Mission, *emphasising* the importance of increased coordinated, timely and sustained support from the international community,
8. *Commending* Member States and organisations, which have made contributions in support of AMISOM, notably the European Union through its Africa Peace Facility, and the SNSF, *taking due note* of the limited resources of this facility in the context of AMISOM's mandate renewal, *underlining the importance of* new donors mobilising additional funding to ensure that AMISOM's funding needs are fully met, *recognising* the AU's call for more predictable and sustainable funding, and *stressing* the need for effective coordination among donors, the United Nations and the African Union,

9. *Reiterating* its strong condemnation of all attacks on Somali institutions, AMISOM, United Nations personnel and facilities, journalists, and the civilian population by armed opposition groups, and foreign fighters, particularly Al-Shabaab, and *stressing* that Somali armed opposition groups and foreign fighters, particularly Al-Shabaab, constitute a terrorist threat to Somalia, and the international community, *stressing* that there should be no place for terrorism or violent extremism in Somalia and *reiterating* its call upon all opposition groups to lay down their arms,
10. *Expressing concern* at the ongoing humanitarian crisis in Somalia and its impact on the people of Somalia, *condemning* any misuse of humanitarian assistance, *underlining* the importance of due diligence and international humanitarian support,
11. *Reiterating* the importance of adhering to obligations under international law including the Charter of the United Nations and international human rights and humanitarian law,
12. *Noting* the importance of the investigation of breaches of international humanitarian law and human rights law and the importance of holding those who commit such breaches to account,
13. *Stressing* the need for a comprehensive strategy in Somalia to address the political, economic, humanitarian and security problems in Somalia, including piracy and hostage taking off the coast of Somalia;
14. *Looking forward to* the AU's thorough review of AMISOM, and *welcoming* the intention of the Secretary General to review the United Nations presence in Somalia, in close consultation with the Somali authorities and taking into account Somalia's evolving national priorities, and in this regard *encouraging* the AU to work closely together with the United Nations and the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) on the respective reviews, *underlining* the importance of a clear division of responsibility between all actors in Somalia,
15. *Noting* the growing numbers of defections of armed combatants, including from Al-Shabaab, and *highlighting* the urgent need to address this situation, including by funding programmes in this domain and reintegrating such individuals back into Somali society where appropriate; and encouraging the UN and AU to examine this issue during their respective reviews,
16. *Underscoring* the ongoing importance of full implementation of paragraph 22 of resolution 2036 (2012) in light of the environmentally degrading impact of charcoal production and the risk that proceeds from charcoal sales may fund extremist violence, noting the accumulation of charcoal in Kismayo Port and the intention of the Somali authorities to study this unique situation further, and expressing its willingness to take further action, if appropriate and in consultation with the Somali authorities, to address this situation.

17. *Recalling* its decision in resolution 2036 (2012) to expand the logistical support package for AMISOM to include the reimbursement of certain contingent owned equipment including force enablers and multipliers ;

18. *Determining* that the situation in Somalia continues to constitute a threat to international peace and security in the region,

*Acting* under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations,

1. *Decides* to authorise the Member States of the African Union to maintain the deployment until 31 October 2013 of AMISOM, which shall be authorised to take all necessary measures, in compliance with applicable international humanitarian and human rights law, and in full respect of the sovereignty, territorial integrity, political independence and unity of Somalia, to carry out the following tasks:
  - a) To establish a presence in the four sectors set out in the AMISOM Strategic Concept of 5 January 2012, and in those sectors, in coordination with the SNSF, reduce the threat posed by Al Shabaab and other armed opposition groups in order to establish conditions for effective and legitimate governance across Somalia;
  - b) To support dialogue and reconciliation in Somalia by assisting with the free movement, safe passage and protection of all those involved with the peace and reconciliation process in Somalia;
  - c) To provide, as appropriate, protection to the Somali authorities to help them carry out their functions of government, and security for key infrastructure;
  - d) To assist, within its capabilities, and in coordination with other parties, with implementation of the National Security and Stabilization Plan, in particular the effective re-establishment and training of all-inclusive SNSF;
  - e) To contribute, as may be requested and within capabilities, to the creation of the necessary security conditions for the provision of humanitarian assistance;
  - f) To protect its personnel, facilities, installations, equipment and mission, and to ensure the security and freedom of movement of its personnel;
2. *Reiterates* its request in paragraph 9 of resolution 2036 (2012) for the establishment without any further delay of a guard force of an appropriate size and within AMISOM's mandated troop levels to provide security, escort and protection services to personnel from the international community, including the United Nations;
3. *Looks forward* to a rapid deployment of a United Nations civilian presence in Somalia and in this regard *welcomes* the initiative to complement AMISOM's troop deployment with an enhanced civilian component capable of augmenting AMISOM's role, particularly as it relates to political engagement with Somali authorities, support to stability and human rights, and other activities, in particular in the areas recently liberated from Al-Shabaab ;

**Deleted:** Notes the obstacles

4. *Decides* on an exceptional basis and owing to the unique character of the mission to extend the UN logistical support package for AMISOM civilian personnel for a further 50 civilian personnel, on a temporary basis to be reviewed in light of the AU and UN strategic reviews, *underlines* the importance of these civilians deploying swiftly to areas recently liberated from Al-Shabaab, in line with the letter dated 18<sup>th</sup> October from the Chairperson of the African Union to the UN Secretary General, *and in this regard welcomes* efforts by the United Nations Support Office for AMISOM (UNSOA) to establish Sector hubs and other appropriate accommodation facilities as soon as possible;

Deleted :

5. *Expresses* its intention to review AMISOM's authorised tasks as provided for in paragraph 1 of this resolution within four months of the date of this resolution and no longer than six months, including *reassessing* the utility of a maritime component, *welcomes* the AU's intention to conduct a review of AMISOM, *encourages* the AU to work closely with the United Nations when conducting its review of AMISOM, *underlines* the importance of a clear delineation of responsibility between the AU and the UN, *underlines* its willingness to consider the UN and AU reviews in the context of any review of AMISOM's authorised tasks, and the overall efforts towards increased support for the training, equipping and retention of the SNSF *encourages* the AU to complete its review of AMISOM by the end of January 2013;

6. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to provide technical, management and expert advice to the African Union in the planning and deployment of AMISOM, through the United Nations Office to the African Union, including on the implementation of the AMISOM Strategic Concept and the AMISOM Concept of Operations;

7. *Requests* AMISOM and the UN to continue to assist in the development of the Somali Police Force and the SNSF, and in this regard *welcomes* the recent deployment of Ugandan and Nigerian Formed Police Units within AMISOM to assist with Somali police capacity building;

8. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to provide a logistical support package for AMISOM referred to in paragraphs 10 and 11 of resolution 2010 (2011) and paragraphs 4 and 6 of resolution 2036 (2012) for a maximum of 17,731 uniformed personnel until 31 October 2013, ensuring the accountability and transparency of expenditure of the United Nations funds as set out in paragraph 4 of resolution 1910 (2010);

9. *Recalls* its request in paragraph 5 of resolution 2036 related to transparency and proper accountability for resources provided to AMISOM, in particular the number of troops, civilian personnel and equipment;

10. *Reiterates* that regional organisations have the responsibility to secure human, financial, logistical and other resources for the work of their organisations, including through contributions by their members and support from partners, *welcomes* support to AMISOM by the African Union's partners, especially through the European Union's African Peace Facility, but *notes* the limited resources of this facility in the

context of AMISOM's mandate renewal, *underlines* the importance of predictable and sustainable funding for AMISOM, as called for by the AU, and *requests* the Secretary General, in consultation with the AU, to include in his upcoming review options and recommendations for AMISOM's funding,

11. *Calls upon* new donors, to support AMISOM through the provision of additional funding for troop stipends, equipment, technical assistance, and uncaveated funding for AMISOM to the United Nations Trust Fund for AMISOM; *calls upon* the African Union and donors to continue to work together to further enhance the effectiveness of African peacekeeping;
12. *Welcomes* the intention of new troop contributing countries to contribute to AMISOM and *stresses* that all troops shall be integrated fully into the AMISOM command and control structures, and shall operate in accordance with AMISOM's authorised tasks as set out in paragraph 1 of this resolution;
13. *Welcomes* the signing of the National Security and Stabilisation Plan, and *reiterates* the importance of the Somali authorities assuming responsibility for the establishment of good governance, rule of law and security and justice services, and *emphasizes* the importance of the early establishment of the National Security Committee, envisaged in the Provisional Constitution, to ensure an inclusive dialogue among the Somali people over the future security and justice architecture, *welcomes* the support to the SNSF by the European Union Training Mission; and *urges* the international community to continue its efforts to provide more support to the development of the Somali security institutions, including by providing training on international human rights and humanitarian law, and the protection of civilians;
14. *Welcomes* the adoption of the United Nations Human Rights Due Diligence Policy by the Secretary-General and encourages its implementation in Somalia in order to ensure that non-United Nations security forces receiving support from the United Nations respect international humanitarian, human rights and refugee law
15. *Recalls* paragraph 13 of resolution 2036;
16. *Decides* to amend paragraph 11b of resolution 1772 as follows:

Such supplies and technical assistance by States intended solely for the purpose of helping develop security sector institutions, consistent with the peace and reconciliation process set out in paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 2067 (2012) and in the absence of a negative decision by the Committee established pursuant to resolution 751 (1992) and 1907 (2009) within five working days of receiving the notification described in paragraph 12 of resolution 1772 (2007),
17. *Notes* the request contained in the African Union press release of 30 October asking the Security Council to take steps to review the arms embargo on Somalia, and in that context, indicates its willingness to review the arms embargo, in consultation with the Somali authorities, within the coming 6 months;
18. *Reaffirms* the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peacebuilding, and *stresses* the importance of their equal participation and full

Deleted: new

involvement in all efforts for the maintenance and promotion of peace and security, *urges* the Somali authorities to continue to promote increased representation of women at all decision-making levels in Somali institutions;

19. *Recalls* its resolutions 1265 (1999), 1296 (2000), 1674 (2006), 1738 (2006) and 1894 (2009) on the protection of civilians in armed conflict, its resolutions 1325(2000), 1820 (2008), 1888 (2009), 1889 (2009) and 1960 (2010) on women and peace and security, and its resolutions 1612 (2005), 1882 (2009) and 1998 (2011) on children and armed conflict, and *takes note* of the reports of the Secretary-General on Children and Armed Conflict in the conclusions endorsed by the Security Council Working Group on Children and Armed Conflict in Somalia;
20. *Welcomes* AMISOM's commitment to establishing a dedicated Protection, Human Rights and Gender section in the coming months, *welcomes* AMISOM's continued progress in reducing civilian casualties during its operations, *urges* AMISOM to continue efforts in this regard, and *reiterates its call* for AMISOM, to establish a Civilian Casualty Tracking, Analysis and Response Cell *further calls on* international donors and partners to support the establishment of the Cell;
21. *Emphasizes* that protecting and promoting human rights, investigating breaches of international humanitarian and human rights law and bringing those responsible for such breaches to account are essential for the legitimacy of the new Somali authorities, and *calls on* Somalia to fulfil its obligations under international human rights and international humanitarian law, *calls upon* all Somali stakeholders, with the support of the UN, the African Union and the international community, to promote reconciliation, law and order, the delivery of basic services and strengthen governance at district, regional, state and federal levels;
22. *Welcomes* the signing on 11 May 2012 of a Memorandum of Understanding between the Somali authorities and the United Nations on human rights, *urges* Member States to support all appropriate bodies in improving human rights monitoring in Somalia;
23. *Welcomes* the 6 August 2012 signing of an action plan by the Somali authorities and the United Nations to eliminate the killing and maiming of children, *noting* that this is the first such action plan to be signed, and *urges* the Somali authorities to vigorously implement both this action plan and the 3 July 2012 action plan on ending the recruitment and use of child soldiers, and *stresses that* any perpetrators of such acts must be brought to justice;
24. *Strongly condemns* the grave and systematic violations and human rights abuses perpetrated by many parties and in particular by Al-Shabaab and its affiliates against the civilian population, including violence against children, journalists, humanitarian personnel and human rights defenders and sexual violence against women and children, *calls for* the immediate cessation of such acts, *emphasizes* the need for accountability for all such violations and abuses and demands that the Somali authorities bring to justice those responsible for all such violations;
25. *Welcomes* the efforts being undertaken by the African Union and AMISOM to implement the Secretary-General's zero-tolerance policy on sexual exploitation and abuse and to ensure full compliance of its personnel with the United Nations code of

Deleted: and

Deleted: and

Deleted: all parties

conduct, *requests* the Secretary-General to continue to take all necessary action in this regard and to keep the Security Council informed, and *urges* troop-contributing countries to take preventive and disciplinary action to ensure that such acts are properly investigated and punished in cases involving their personnel;

26. *Reiterates* its demand that all parties ensure full, safe and unhindered access for the timely delivery of humanitarian aid to persons in need of assistance across Somalia;
27. *Welcomes* the gradual relocation of UNPOS to Mogadishu, *urges* all United Nations entities to take further steps to rapidly achieve a more permanent and full relocation to Somalia, in particular in Mogadishu and in areas recovered from Al-Shabaab as soon as possible;
28. *Notes* the Secretary-General's request to the Security Council to delay his recommendations on the future of the UN presence in Somalia by one month, *requests* the Secretary General to provide options and recommendations to the Security Council (as outlined in paragraph 21 of resolution 2067 (2012)) by 31 January 2013, *requests* the Secretary General as part of his review to include an analysis of any security constraints impeding a wider UN presence across Somalia and recommendations to address them;
29. *Requests* the African Union to keep the Security Council regularly informed, through the Secretary-General, on the implementation of AMISOM's mandate, and report to the Council, through the provision of written reports, every 60 days after the date of this resolution;
30. *Decides* to remain actively seized of the matter.